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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-01727 
CASE NAME: GETTELMAN VS. RANCHO TRES MESA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR MODIFY ORDER DATED 2/23/17 FILED BY 
ERIC R. THOMAS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-00596 
CASE NAME: AGBABIAKA VS THE BANK OF NEW Y 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY ROCKBRIDGE GROUP 
LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 The motion for summary judgment filed by defendant Rockbridge Group, LLC is 

granted.   

1. Facts. 
 
Plaintiff, Guadalupe Agbabiaka, sues for personal injuries arising out of an incident that 

occurred on March 19, 2012, when she alleges she fell due to an upturned tile at the property 
she was renting.  She had originally rented the property from the Eaglins, in 2010, but they lost 
the property to foreclosure.  Bank of New York purchased the property at a foreclosure sale on 
August 15, 2011.  After the foreclosure sale, the property manager was originally defendant 
Tenant Access and later moving party Rockbridge Group, LLC.  Rockbridge is the successor in 
interest to Tenant Access.  Neither party has provided the precise date when Rockbridge took 
over from Tenant Access, but Tenant Access was still the property manager on the several 
occasions before the accident when plaintiff complained to them of the problem with the 
bathroom tiles.  (See N. Agbabiaka Decl., ¶12.)  Tenant Access was also the property manager 
for some time after the accident, because plaintiff reported the incident to Tenant Access; she 
does not say she reported it to Rockbridge.  (Id, ¶ 21.)  She has not presented any evidence 
that she ever reported the accident to Rockbridge before she served her lawsuit on them, 
apparently in 2016. 

 
Rockbridge now moves for summary judgment on the Second Amended Complaint, 

which contains a single cause of action for premises liability, on the ground that the lawsuit was 
filed two days after expiration of the two-year statute of limitations under CCP § 335.1. 

 
The facts concerning why the lawsuit was filed two days late, on March 21, 2014 rather 

than on March 19, 2014, are undisputed.  Plaintiff sent her husband, Nicholas Agbabiaka, to do 
the filing.  Mr. Agbabiaka had filed a lawsuit in Contra Costa County in 2008 at the clerk’s office 
in Richmond, California, which forwarded it to the main court location in Martinez.  He assumed 
he could do this again. 
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Mr. Agbabiaka does not say what time he arrived at the Richmond courthouse.  

Presumably it was sometime in the afternoon, after the filing window had closed, because he 
states that the Clerk’s office was closed when he arrived and that a deputy sheriff told him to 
leave the complaint in a dropbox, stating it would be processed the next morning.  (Id., ¶ 28-29.)   

 
The next day, he received a telephone message from the Richmond court stating the 

complaint had to be filed in Martinez.  He first heard this message late in the afternoon.  By the 
time he got to the courthouse, it was closed.  He was not able to retrieve the complaint until the 
next day, March 21, 2014, whereupon he took it to Martinez and filed it.  (Id., ¶30, 31.) 

 
On its own motion (see Scott v. J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 

743, 752), the court takes judicial notice that the Rules of Court for the Superior Court of the 
County of Contra Costa County effective January 1, 2013 state, “All new Unlimited and Limited 
jurisdiction civil cases . . . and any subsequent papers shall be filed in Martinez. . . . (Rev Eff. 
1/1/13).”  (Local Rule 5 (e).)  The local rules effective January 1, 2014 contain the same 
statement.  

 
2. Analysis. 

 
A defendant is entitled to summary judgment if the facts are undisputed and he is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  (CCP § 437c (c).)  The facts are undisputed here.  
While resolution of a statute of limitations issue is normally a question of fact, summary 
judgment is nevertheless proper if the facts established through discovery are susceptible of 
only one legitimate inference.  (Jolly v. Eli Lilly & Co. (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1103, 1112.)   

 
Plaintiff relies on the doctrine of equitable tolling to excuse the late filing of the complaint. 
 
The term “equitable tolling” encompasses a variety of circumstances under which the 

statute of limitations may be tolled.  Fraudulent concealment of wrongdoing by the defendant is 
one of them.  (See Sagehorn v. Engle (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 452, 460-461 and fn. 6)   
Equitable tolling may also apply when an injured person has several legal remedies and, 
reasonably and in good faith, pursues one; where administrative remedies must be exhausted 
before a second action can proceed; or where a first action, “embarked upon in good faith, is 
found to be defective for some reason.”  (McDonald v. Antelope Valley Community College Dist. 
(2008) 45 Cal.4th 88, 99–100.)  The doctrine of equitable tolling is “designed to prevent unjust 
and technical forfeitures of the right to a trial on the merits when the purpose of the statute of 
limitations—timely notice to the defendant of the plaintiff's claims—has been satisfied.”  
(McDonald, supra, 45 Cal.4th at 99.)   

 
Courts typically say that equitable tolling requires three elements:  (1) timely notice to the 

defendant; (2) lack of prejudice to the defendant; and (3) reasonable and good faith conduct on 
the part of the plaintiff.  (McDonald, supra, 45 Cal.4th at 102.)   

 
However, defendant cites Scharer v. San Luis Rey Equine Hospital, Inc. (2012) 204 

Cal.App.4th 421, 429-430.  Scharer can be read to suggest that the elements may be somewhat 
different where the plaintiff files the complaint late for reasons other than that she pursued 
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another remedy first or that there was inequitable misconduct by another party.  In Scharer, the 
court found that plaintiff had established only her good faith, and had not met the other two 
elements.  However, the court also concluded, “A plaintiff must pursue a claim in a timely 
manner or demonstrate that he or she was prevented from doing so by improper action of the 
court or the defendants.”  (Id. at 430.) 

 
Here, it is undisputed that plaintiff did not pursue the claim in a timely manner.  Further, 

she has not established that she was prevented from pursuing her claim in a timely manner by 
improper action of the court or the defendants.  (See Scharer; see also Hu v. Silgan Containers 
Corp. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1261 (no equitable tolling where plaintiff’s complaint ended up 
being late because her filing was voided due to payment of insufficient funds to cover the filing 
fee; cf. Rappleyea v. Campbell, supra, 8 Cal.4th 975 (bad advice from court and counsel 
constituted extrinsic mistake).)   

 
Plaintiff argues the court should permit a trial rather than resolving the case on this 

motion because equitable tolling requires a balancing of the injustice to the plaintiff against the 
policy behind the statute of limitations; and the court cannot do this weighing on a motion for 
summary judgment because the court may not make credibility determinations or weigh the 
evidence to determine whose version of the facts is more likely true. 

 
These arguments are unpersuasive for several reasons.  First, CCP section 437c states, 

“If a party is otherwise entitled to summary judgment pursuant to this section, summary 
judgment shall not be denied on grounds of credibility or for want of cross-examination of 
witnesses furnishing affidavits or declarations in support of the summary judgment . . .”  Second, 
the court does not need to make any credibility determinations here.  It is assuming that all of 
plaintiff’s evidence is true on this motion and finding that defendant is entitled to judgment as a 
matter of law anyway.  Third, in granting summary judgment, the court is essentially concluding 
that under no circumstances could the court, sitting as a reasonable trier of fact of this equitable 
issue, find that plaintiff is entitled to equitable tolling based on plaintiff’s evidence.  Fourth, 
plaintiff has not cited any authority holding that an issue of equitable tolling always requires a 
trial. 

 
Plaintiff objects to the vast majority of the declaration that Rockbridge submits from its 

“authorized representative,” Jerry Zuniga.  However, that declaration is unimportant in a case 
like this, where equitable tolling is not based on any conduct of the defendant.  Plaintiff does not 
dispute that Rockbridge played no role whatsoever in her efforts to file her complaint in a timely 
manner.  (Undisputed Material Fact (“UMF”) No. 27, 29.)   

 
When the court applies equitable tolling, it weighs the equities.  However, in this case 

only one of the scales has something on it.  Thus, the scales tip against plaintiff. Defendant and 
the court are blameless.  Plaintiff is not.  Plaintiff presents no evidence that she took any steps 
to file her complaint until the last day before expiration of the two-year statute of limitations.  
When she did try to file her complaint, she did so without consulting an attorney or publicly 
available local court rules and only began later in the day, when it was always possible 
complications would arise.  In another context, the court would be asking whether plaintiff  
“exercised such reasonable diligence as a [person] of ordinary prudence usually bestows upon 
important business . . .”  (Elms v. Elms (1946) 72 Cal.App.2d 508, 513 (emphasis added).)  She 
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did not.   
 
Further, the court is not permitted to grant her any special leniency just because she is 

not represented by an attorney.  A person appearing in pro per is entitled to the “same treatment 
as if represented by an attorney – no different, no better, no worse.”  (Taylor v. Bell (1971) 21 
Cal.App.3d 1002, 1009.)   “Except when a particular rule provides otherwise, the rules of civil 
procedure must apply equally to parties represented by counsel and those who forgo attorney 
representation.”  (Rappleyea v. Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 984.)   
 

As noted by the cases, statutes of limitation “operate[] conclusively across the board, 
and not flexibly on a case-by-case basis.  (Nogart v. Upjohn Co. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, 395.)  
They are, of necessity, “adamant rather than flexible in nature.”  (Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Md. v. 
Claude Fisher Co. (1958) 161 Cal.App.2d 431, 437).  “Statutes of limitations are upheld 
regardless of hardship or of the underlying merits of the claim. The occasional loss of a 
meritorious claim is the legislatively prescribed price to be paid for ‘the orderly and timely 
processing of litigation.’”  (State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Sup. Ct. (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 
604, 612.)  Because of plaintiff’s unexplained delay in attempting to file this case on the last 
possible day, as well as her error in filing it in the wrong courthouse, that is unfortunately the 
result here.  This case falls within the rule of those cases where equitable tolling was denied.  
(See Duran v. St. Luke's Hospital (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 457, 460-461  (trial court properly 
dismissed case where plaintiff was $3short on filing fee); Richmond v. Shipman (1976) 63 
Cal.App.3d 340 (complaint not timely filed when plaintiff’s counsel handed it to a judge rather 
than to the court clerk on the final day); Scharer, supra (plaintiff filed her case 17 days late, 
mistakenly believing her time was tolled by CCP § 364); Hu, supra, (trial court had no 
jurisdiction to “reinstate” an action that had been voided for failure to pay required fees).  

 
Rulings on Evidentiary Objections 
 
Plaintiff’s Objections filed 1/10/18 to the Declaration of Jerri Zuniga 
 
The court sustains the objections to paragraphs 2-11 of this declaration.  The declaration 

does not affirmatively show that the declarant has personal knowledge of the matters discussed 
in these paragraphs.  “The matters alleged must be something about which the declarant has 
reason to know personally.”  (3 Weil & Brown, California Practice Guide, Civil Procedure Before 
Trial, § 10:109, p. 10-47; see Snider v. Snider (1962) 200 Cal.App.2d 741, 753-754.)  The 
declaration does not show they are.  

 
Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice filed 1/19/18 
 
The court denies this request for judicial notice. 
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01451 
CASE NAME: ARMSTRONG VS. DALY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR DISQUALIFY ATTORNEY DEVRIES AND FOR A 
MISTRIAL FILED BY THOMAS E DALY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  

Cross-Complainant Thomas Daly’s motion to disqualify Cross-Defendants Nyna 

Armstrong’s  attorney Robert De Vries is denied.  

Daly’s motion was filed on October 16, 2017. Armstrong filed an opposition on October 

17, 2017. These papers were filed while this case was in trial. A mistrial was later declared. The 

parties subsequently settled Armstrong’s claims against Daly, but did not settled Daly’s cross-

complaint against Armstrong. Armstrong filed a second opposition to this motion on January 11, 

2018 and Daly filed a timely reply.  

Daly’s motion seeks to disqualify Armstrong’s attorney Robert De Vries because De 

Vries represented Armstrong’s brother, Richard Armstrong, during his deposition.  

Daly argues that De Vries’ representation of Richard Armstrong at his deposition violates 

Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 3-310(B). Daly also argues that De Vries continued 

representation in this case presents a threat to the integrity of the judicial process.  

Armstrong is correct that there is often an issue of standing when a non-client seeks to 

have an attorney disqualified based on a conflict of interest. Kennedy v. Eldridge (2011) 201 

Cal.App.4th 1197, 1205 sets forth the relevant standard for a party to have standing to bring a 

disqualification motion where, as here, it is undisputed that the moving party never had an 

attorney-client relationship with De Vries. Specifically, “[w]here an attorney’s continued 

representation threatens an opposing litigant with cognizable injury or would undermine the 

integrity of the judicial process, the trial court may grant a motion for disqualification, regardless 

of whether a motion is brought by a present or former client of recused counsel.” (Id. at 1205.) 

When deciding whether to disqualify an attorney, “ ‘[t]he court must weigh the combined 

effect of a party's right to counsel of choice, an attorney's interest in representing a client, the 

financial burden on a client of replacing disqualified counsel and any tactical abuse underlying a 

disqualification proceeding against the fundamental principle that the fair resolution of disputes 

within our adversary system requires vigorous representation of parties by independent counsel 

unencumbered by conflicts of interest.’ [Citation.]” (Oaks Management Corporation v. Superior 

Court (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 453, 464-465.) 

Here, the Court is concerned that De Vries representation of Richard Armstrong creates 

a risk to the “fair resolution of disputes” and may create the appearance of impropriety. (See, 

e.g. Silva v. San Pablo Police Dep't (N.D.Cal. July 6, 2017, No. 16-cv-04360-VC (KAW)) 2017 

U.S.Dist.LEXIS 104646 [disqualifying an attorney who represented a party and a key third-party 

witness].) However, Armstrong has offered not to call her brother as a witness so that she can 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   01/25/18 

 
 

- 6 - 

avoid any conflict and keep her chosen counsel. The Court finds that agreeing not to call 

Richard Armstrong removes the harm to the integrity of the judicial process and consequently 

there is no need to disqualify De Vries. 

In reply, Daly argues that Armstrong did not address Rules of Professional Conduct, 

Rule 5-210 and 5-220. Rule 5-210 discusses when an attorney can act as both an advocate and 

witness in a case. Rule 5-220 states that an attorney shall not suppress evidence that he or his 

client has a legal obligation to produce. Daly did not include these rules as reasons for 

disqualification in his moving papers and the Court will not rule on these arguments. In addition, 

the evidence currently before this Court does not show that either Rule 5-210 or 5-220 has been 

violated.  

 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01451 
CASE NAME: ARMSTRONG VS. DALY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR TERMINATING SANCTIONS FILED BY THOMAS E 
DALY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Off Calendar per letter from counsel.  

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01253 
CASE NAME: AMERICAN EXPRESS VS. JONES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER VACATING DISM & ENTERING JUDGMENT 
PURS 664.6 FILED BY AMERICAN EXPRESS BANK, FSB 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00034 
CASE NAME: GOLDEN STATE LUMBER, INC. VS L 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION FILED BY GOLDEN STATE 
LUMBER, INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Vacated. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00101 
CASE NAME: KHURANA VS. CITIMORTGAGE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL FILED BY MAHESH 
KHURANA, ANITA KHURANA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Vacated per Withdrawal of Motion filed 1/23/18. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00184 
CASE NAME: LAPLANTE VS. CSAA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of LAPLANTE FILED 
BY INTERINSURANCE EXCHANGE OF THE AUTOMOBILE C 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club’s (“the Exchange”) special 
demurrer to the entire First Amended Complaint is granted with leave to amend.  The Exchange 
argues that the FAC, in its entirety, is uncertain.  The court agrees.  Plaintiff alleges that she had 
two, separate insurers for the crashed vehicle, but does not explain or identify why that would 
be.  Furthermore, LaPlante does not explain which entity she had/has an auto policy with or 
which policy had/has the underinsured provision and/or any preservation of a crashed vehicle 
provision.  From the FAC, one cannot know who the two individual employees are, who 
represented that they would keep the crashed vehicle for Plaintiff, or for which insurer they even 
worked.  Hence, one cannot know whom Plaintiff was dealing with in getting the multiple 
assurances that her car would be preserved.  When the car was salvaged, one cannot tell which 
insurer (and employee?) was responsible for that either.  Indeed, after identifying the CSAA and 
the Exchange as LaPlante’s insurers, she then never identified them again by name.  The entire 
FAC is pled against “Defendants” or “Defendant, and each of them.” 
  
 In Opposition, Plaintiff points out that demurrers for uncertainty are highly disfavored.  
Special demurrers for uncertainty will only be sustained when the operative complaint is so 
poorly drafted that a defendant cannot reasonably respond because it cannot reasonably 
determine what issues must be admitted or denied or what claims are directed at it.  See Khoury 
v. Maly’s of California, Inc. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616.  Plaintiff states that:  “It is perfectly 
clear what the crux of LaPlante’s claims are” and “who they are directed at.”  (Opposition, 
unpaginated. (Section IIIC) 
 
 The court certainly cannot tell which policy (or both) is Plaintiff referring to as the basis 
for her bad faith claim and which insurer (or both) is Plaintiff alleging to have made “false” 
promises to her about preserving her car and thereby breaching an alleged oral agreement with 
her. 
 
 Undoubtedly anticipating this result with respect to the special (and general demurrer), 
Plaintiff requests leave to amend her FAC and attaches a proposed Second Amended 
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Complaint (“SAC”).  The court has reviewed the SAC and notes that it still does not clarify the 
uncertainty regarding the Defendants.  While Plaintiff attaches an auto policy with the Exchange 
to the SAC, she continues to plead all claims against both insurers, implying that these two 
entities are separate and different.  Leave to amend is granted to clarify, unambiguously, who is 
being sued, on what policy, or other grounds.  Plaintiff shall not refer to the parties as 
“Defendants” but shall separate each Defendant out by name, so that the parties and the court 
may understand the pleadings and the parties, be prepared to respond to them.   
 
 There is no need to address the general demurrer to the FAC.  If any Defendant sees fit 
to demurrer to the next amended pleading, the same meet and confer requirements apply.   
  

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00184 
CASE NAME: LAPLANTE VS. CSAA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF FIRST AMENDED COMPLT 
FILED BY INTERINSURANCE EXCHANGE OF THE AUTOMOBILE C 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Moot.  See Line 8.    

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00814 
CASE NAME: RENEE BENHAM VS WELLS FARGO BA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of BENHAM FILED BY 
WELLS FARGO BANK N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
  
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 
successor by merger with Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., f/k/a Wachovia Mortgage, FSB, 
f/k/a World Savings Bank, FSB (“Defendant” or “Wells Fargo”). The Demurrer relates to the First 
Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed by Renee Benham (“Benham”). This is an unlawful 
foreclosure case. The FAC pleads causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; (2) 
violation of § 2923.7; (3) negligence; (4) intentional misrepresentation; (5) negligent 
misrepresentation; and (6) unfair business practices. 

The Court previously sustained Defendant’s demurrer to Plaintiff’s original Complaint, which 
pled causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; (2) violation of § 2923.7; (3) 
negligence; and (4) unfair business practices.  

Where the Court’s order sustains a demurrer with leave to amend, “the plaintiff may amend his 
or her complaint only as authorized by the court’s order.” Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage, FSB 
(2010) 185 Cal. App. 4th 1018, 1023. The plaintiff may not amend the complaint to add new 
causes of action without having obtained permission to do so, unless the new causes of action 
are within the scope of the order granting leave to amend. Id. Where a cause of action “directly 
responds” to the trial court’s reason for sustaining the demurrer, the rule that new causes of 
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action may not be added does not apply. Patrick v. Alacer Corp. (2008) 167 Cal. App. 4th 995, 
1015. 

Here, the new causes of action for intentional misrepresentation and negligent 
misrepresentation are not within the scope of the order granting leave to amend and do not 
“directly respond” to the Court’s reasoning sustaining Defendant’s prior demurrer. As a 
consequence, the Demurrer to those causes of action is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant Requests Judicial Notice of several documents. This Request is unopposed. The 

Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”) is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 

Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 

alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 

550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 

reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 

source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 

Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 

at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 

complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 

California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. 

Factual Background 

Plaintiff is the owner of the real property at 719 Craig Ct., Brentwood, CA 94513 (the “Subject 
Property”). FAC at ¶ 1. On or about April 27, 2001 she obtained a loan in the amount of 
$315,000 through Washington Mutual Bank to purchase the Subject Property, secured by a 
Deed of Trust. FAC at ¶ 24. Plaintiff later refinanced on or about December 18, 2007 with a new 
loan in the amount of $504,000 through World Savings Bank, FSB. FAC at ¶ 25 and Ex. A.  

World Savings Bank, FSB, was a federal savings bank. RJN Ex. D. It was renamed Wachovia 
Mortgage, FSB on December 31, 2007. RJN Ex. E. Effective November 1, 2009, Wachovia 
Mortgage, FSB was converted to a national bank with the name Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, 
N.A., and merged with into Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. RJN Ex. F.  

Plaintiff began to experience financial hardship in or about the end of 2015 and began falling 
behind on mortgage payments in late 2015. FAC at ¶ 28. NBS Default Services LLC recorded a 
Notice of Default on the Subject Property on April 7, 2016. FAC ¶ 29 Ex. B. 

Plaintiff alleges that she submitted a complete loan modification application to Wells Fargo in 
2016. FAC at ¶ 30. She alleges that thereafter she was assigned to various SPOCs who were 
not responsive to her. Id. at ¶ 30. Plaintiff alleges that notwithstanding her pending loan 
modification application, Wells Fargo moved forward with the foreclosure process and caused a 
Notice of Trustee’s Sale to be recorded on November 4, 2016. Id. at ¶ 31 and Ex. C. 
Subsequently, she received a loan modification denial letter from Wells Fargo on or about 
March 21, 2017. FAC at ¶ 32. 
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Analysis 

Violation of Civil Code § 2923.6 

Plaintiff alleges that Wells Fargo violated civil code § 2923.6 by failing to make a determination 
on her completed package for loan modification and moving forward with the foreclosure 
process. FAC at ¶¶ 30, 31. 

The Court notes that effective January 1, 2018 section 2923.6 no longer contains a prohibition 
on dual tracking. The prohibition on dual tracking was codified in former section 2923.6 that was 
repealed on January 1, 2018. Prior to January 1, 2018 Civil Code § 2923.6 prohibited “dual 
tracking,” wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a mortgage service, mortgagee, trustee, 
beneficiary, or authorized agent” records a notice of default or notice of sale, notwithstanding a 
pending application for a first lien loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.6 (repealed January 1, 
2018). The ban on “dual tracking” became effective once the borrower submits a “complete 
application for a first lien loan modification.” Id. at subsection (c). 

Plaintiff’s allegations are largely unchanged from her original Complaint. Plaintiff alleges that 
she submitted a complete loan application to Wells Fargo in early 2016. FAC at ¶ 30. She 
further alleges that while she was “in loan modification with [Wells Fargo]” and “submitting the 
same documents over and over per each SPOC’s request,” Wells Fargo continued the 
foreclosure process. FAC at ¶ 31. She alleges that she received a loan modification denial letter 
from Wells Fargo on March 21, 2017 (FAC at ¶ 32), notwithstanding the fact that Wells Fargo 
had a Notice of Trustee’s Sale recorded on November 4, 2016 (FAC at ¶ 31). 

However, HBOR provides relief only for a “material” violation of the dual tracking statute. See 
former Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a borrower may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin 
a material violation of Section 2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 
2924.17.”) (emphasis added). Plaintiff has failed to allege that any technical violations of the 
dual tracking provisions were “material,” in the sense that but for those violations, Wells Fargo 
would have agreed to a loan modification agreement that Plaintiff could have afforded. Her mere 
allegation that “had Defendants properly reviewed Plaintiff’s loan modification and loss 
mitigation requests in a timely manner, she would have been approved for a loan modification” 
(FAC at ¶ 34) is conclusory and lacks supporting factual allegations. In the absence of such 
allegations, Plaintiff has failed to allege that she was damaged by any alleged technical 
violations of prior section 2923.6.  

Because the parties did not raise this point, and because the Plaintiff has not stated a claim 
under the prior section 2923.6, the Court need not reach whether Plaintiff’s claim has been 
abated given the repeal of prior section 2923.6 which prohibited dual tracking. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, without leave to amend  

Violation of § 2923.7 

Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo violated Civil Code section 2923.7 because no single point of 
contact was provided to Plaintiff after she commenced communicating with Wells Fargo 
regarding a loan modification. FAC at ¶ 30. 

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires a SPOC to be appointed when a borrower “requests a foreclosure 
prevention alternative,” such as a loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a).  
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Plaintiff’s allegations here are also largely unchanged from her original Complaint. `Plaintiff 
alleges that she “was assigned to various SPOCs and had to submit the same information as 
the documents either expired or the new SPOC claimed he could not see in the file.” FAC at 
¶ 30. She alleges that her SPOC did not return her phone calls throughout the loan modification 
process and that she was forced to resort to calling the 800 help line, wherein “she would be 
assigned and transferred from one SPOC to the next.” Id. 

However, Plaintiff’s FAC fails to allege any material “actual economic damages” as a 
consequence of these alleged violations. As a consequence, the Demurrer to this cause of 
action is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Negligence 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

Plaintiff’s negligence allegations center on Defendants’ alleged improper review and processing 
of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. See FAC at ¶¶ 70-76. However, the FAC fails to 
allege how that alleged negligent conduct caused Plaintiff’s default. In the absence of such a 
nexus, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for negligence. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, without leave to amend. 

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 
§ 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

The alleged unfair conduct complained of appears to be Defendants’ improper review and 
processing of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. FAC at ¶¶ 71; 101. However, Plaintiff’s 
FAC is bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic injury and causation. In the 
absence of allegations that she incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or property in 
any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 325), such as late fees and penalties, 
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that were caused by Defendants’ unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has not alleged facts 
sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, without leave to amend. 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL15-01878 
CASE NAME: CAPITAL ONE VS. JONES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENTRY OF JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO STIP OF 
PARTIES FILED BY CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-0463 
CASE NAME: CC CHILD CARE COUNCIL VS CA DE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR JUDGMENT ON WRIT OF ADMIN MANDATE FILED 
BY CONTRA COSTA CHILD CARE COUNCIL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  The petition for writ of mandate is granted.  This court will set aside the final written 
decision of ALJ Tiffany King in this case and order reconsideration of the facts and law in light of 
the ruling on this motion.  See CCP Section 1094.5(f).  This court cannot correct the amount of 
the reimbursement sought from Petitioner, itself, since Respondent did not itemize the requests 
for reimbursement for overpayment to Petitioner by employee.  This court finds no violation of 
the reporting requirements of 7 CFR part 226, et seq. for Child Health & Nutrition Specialists #1 
and 6 (Nancy Green and Catherine Stafford).   
 Both parties agree that this court has the authority to set aside the ALJ’s decision and 
order them to consider other evidence or evaluate its findings and present a new opinion.  See 
CCP Section 1094.5.  Both parties also agree that “substantial evidence” is the test.  Petitioner 
has the burden of showing that the decision was not based on substantial evidence or the 
applicable law.  See Murray v. Heckler (9th Cir. 1983) 722 F.2d 499, 502; California Youth 
Authority v. State Personnel Board (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 575, 584.  
  
 The only inquiry on this writ is whether there is substantial evidence to conclude that 
Specialists #1 and 6 accounted for their actual hours worked, as opposed to the hours being 
predetermined to match the amount of funds Petitioner had for CACFP activities.  Petitioner 
does not contest CDE’s review of the other six employees or the ALJ’s determination that they 
did not account for actual time worked on CACFP activities, but matched their hours to the 
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budgeted amount Petitioner received.  With respect to Specialists #1 and 6, 100% of their work 
is CACFP projects.  The CDE contends that these time sheets were improper because they 
were not dated.  Each timesheet must be signed and dated so that “an after-the-fact 
determination of the actual activity of each employee” can be determined.  “The date is 
necessary documentation that the review has been completed after-the-fact by the supervisor of 
the employee.”  (AR, Volume 3, page 1442, lines 2-16) 

 The court disagrees.  First, the USDA’s Food and Nutrition Services’ Instruction 796-2, 
revision 3, paragraph VIII, subsection 23(c) (incorporated into 7 CFR, part 226, et seq.) does not 
compel a dated signature.  It states that:  “In all cases, time and attendance and time distribution 
reports must be completed by the employee and signed and certified as true and correct by the 
employee and a responsible supervisory official, having first-hand knowledge of the activities 
performed by the employee during the period covered by the reports.”     
 
 The relevant time sheets for Specialists #1 and 6 can be found in Volume 3, pages 
1120-1137 (Donna Green) and pages 1138-1155 (Catherine Stafford).  The timesheets clearly 
set out the time period covered by the report in the upper right hand corner.  Each timesheet is 
filled out and signed by the employee and her supervisor, with both employee and supervisor 
certifying that the timesheet for the pay period is true and correct.   
 
 Second, the variance in hours on the timesheets strongly implies that they were 
prepared during the pay period by the employee and that the supervisor signed the timesheets 
after-the-fact or at the end of the pay period.  The time sheets are all very different for each pay 
period.  Take Donna Green’s timesheet for December 16 through December 30, 2013.  Ms. 
Green reported that she arrived at 9:30 a.m. on December 16 and left at 2 p.m.  She returned 
the same day at 3 pm and left at 5 p.m.  The next day, December 17, Ms. Green arrived at work 
at 2:30 p.m. and worked until 6:30 p.m.  The next day, December 18, she arrived at 9 a.m. and 
left at 10 a.m., and then returned to work from noon until 4 p.m.  On December 19, Ms. Green 
reported her arrival at work at 9:30 a.m. and her departure at noon.  She returned to work from  
2:30 p.m. until 3 p.m.  Ms. Green reported one hour sick time on December 18 and December 
19 and 1.5 hours of “other” on December 19.  She took vacation of 5.5 hours on December 23 
and 4 hours of vacation on December 26 and 27.   
   
 The same is true for Catherine Stafford.  For the randomly chosen pay period of 
November 16 to November 30, 2013, the timesheet shows:  On November 18, 2013, Ms. 
Stafford arrived at 8 a.m. and signed out at 11 a.m.; she signed back in at 11:30 a.m. and 
worked until 3:30 p.m..  On November 19, Ms. Stafford arrived at work at 10 a.m. and departed 
at 1 p.m.; she returned at 1:30 p.m. and worked until 5:30 p.m..  On November 20th, Ms. Stafford 
arrived to work at 9 a.m.; she worked until 1 p.m., signed out for lunch and returned at 1:30 
p.m..  She then worked until 5:30 p.m..  On November 21, 2013, she arrived at 8 a.m..  She left 
at noon and returned to work at 12:30 p.m..  She then worked until 3:30 p.m..  The following 
week is similar, with Ms. Stafford starting work at different times and stopping work at different 
times.  Additionally, Ms. Stafford reported sick time twice that week.  2 hours on November 25th 
and 1.40 hours on November 27th.   
 
 In sum, the variance in hours which appears on both employees’ time sheets for the 
reviewed period implies that this is after-the-fact time and that it was recorded during or at the 
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end of the payroll period.  The reason is simple:  a person simply could not remember such 
details about their working day months or weeks later.  And, with these two Specialists, there is 
no issue with time distribution and no incentive to estimate their time around any budgeted 
amount.   
 
 The ALJ expressed her concern about the undated timesheets.  She stated at the 
hearing: 

ALJ King: Okay, because you understand that one of the Department of Ed’s 
concerns here are that all of these numbers are predetermined to match – okay, 
this is the amounts of funds we have.  Let’s maximize the most we can get 
reimbursement for this program and so we’re going to make sure it’s, you know, 
.99, as close to 10% as possible for the employees who are authorized under 
there, and without having a date, it looks like, okay, let’s just prepare October – 
let’s just prepare the whole year’s statements and we’ll just turn them in as we 
go. 
 
That’s what the concern is, and so when you say, it’s the normal practice for 
employees to date their signature, and it just so happens that these two 
employees for the entire audit period, didn’t sign their timesheets, it seems a little 
suspicious. 

(AR, Volume 3, page 1444) 
 
 However, the variance in the hours for each two week pay period appears to belie the 
concern of the ALJ that the time sheets were prepared monthly or even at the end of the year.  
The evidence weighs strongly against that conclusion.  Each of the two Specialists had different 
start and stop times every day.  Each recorded sick and vacation time.  This is completely unlike 
the other six employees whose timesheets showed noticeable signs of using budget estimates 
to determine the labor costs charged.  For example, appellant’s approved administrative budget 
for the review period estimated the finance manager and bookkeeper would each charge 15.20 
hours to the CACFP per month.  Not surprisingly, PARs for the finance manager reflected the 
CACFP was charged 15.18 hours each month (7.59 hours or 7 hours and 35.4 minutes for 
every two week pay period).  Similarly, PARs for the bookkeeper show charges to the CACFP of 
15.16 hours each month (7.58 hours or 7 hours and 34.8 minutes for every two week pay 
period).  The Decision concluded from these records that:  “The lack of variation in the hours 
charged to the CACFP by each position for each biweekly pay period over the nine-month 
review period strongly suggests the charges do not reflect the actual time each employee spent 
on CACFP activities, but rather are based on budget estimates.  The purpose of the PARs is to 
ensure that only the actual time, not an approximate allocation, is charged to the CACFP.”  (AR, 
Volume 3, page 1427) 
 
 As set out above, this uniformity in the PARs for Specialists #1 and 6 did not exist.  
Hence, there was not substantial evidence to support the ALJ’s conclusion that these two 
employees did not record their actual time on CACFP projects.   
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1114 
CASE NAME: RE ANGEL RAMIREZ 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1818 
CASE NAME: DOCTOR'S ASSOC VS TRIPATHI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR AMND JUDGMENT AND NON-MONEY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY DOCTOR'S ASSOCIATES INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-2008 
CASE NAME: WAHAB VS DMV 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE CCP1094.5 ( BY MUMINI 
WAHAB) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. Counsel to be prepared to discuss why petition should not be dismissed for failure to 
serve.  

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-2178 
CASE NAME: GUTIERREZVS KELLY NORCAL HOME 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR RELEASE OF PROPERY FROM LIEN FILED BY 
JENNIFER VERA GUTIERREZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 
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17.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSN12-1269 
CASE NAME: MATTER OF TRI-VALLEY GASTROENT 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION OF ISSUES FILED BY 
SALIM SHELBY MD , SALIM SHELBY MD , EXECUTIVE SUGERY CENTER INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to March 29, 2018 at 9:00 AM in Dept. 33.  

 


